FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2017 9:08 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95252-3

Court of Appeals, Div II No. 48927-9-II

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD BOYD, Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF OLYMPIA, Respondent

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, Defendant.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 37597 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Petitioner Richard Boyd

> Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	Objective Facts Available to Claim Manager		
	Judicial Notice of Claim File Documents7		
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED8		
	А.	This Division II decision conflicts with rulings of the Supreme Court and Division I of the Court of Appeals 9	
		1. Supreme Court	
		2. Court of Appeals, Division I decision conflict 10	
	B.	Dr. Rao's chart note and billing is inconsistent with the determination that Mr. Boyd was fixed and stable. Therefore, it is a protest under the IIA as mandated by the Supreme Court	

Γ_{i} CONCLUSION	. 1		Ν	·.	F.
-------------------------	-----	--	---	----	----

APPENDIX A - October 24, 2017 Published Opinion - *Boyd v. City* of Olympia and Department of Labor & Industries

APPENDIX B

Richard Wohns MD, May 14, 2010 chart notes. CABR 71;

July 1, 2011 Operative report from Dr. Green. CABR 73;

October 25, 2011 chart note of Dr. Green. CABR 75;

January 26, 2012 chart note of Dr. Green. CABR 77;

June 7, 2013 IME of Justin Sherfey, M.D. CABR 93-98;

November 15, 2013 Claim Review File Note of Carrie Fleischman. CABR 116; and

January 8, 2010 Activity Prescription Form (APF), completed by Richard Wohns, M.D. CABR 118.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

.

Dennis v. Department of Labor and Industries of State of Wash. 109 Wash.2d 467, 470-472, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)14
Harbor Plywood Corp. v. Department of Labor & Indus. 48 Wash.2d 553, 295 P.2d 310 (1956)10
In Re: Mike Lambert BIIA No. 91 0107 (January, 1991) 12, 13, 14
King County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd. 142 Wn.2d 543, 549 n.6 14 P.3d 133 (2000)
Larson v. City of Bellevue 188 Wn.App. 857, 355 P.3d 331 (2015)
<i>Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc.</i> 171 Wash. 2d 587, 598, 257 P.3d 532 (2011)14
<i>Spivey v. City of Bellevue</i> 389 P.3d 504 (2017)
Wendt v. Department of Labor & Indus. 18 Wash.App. 674, 682–83, 571 P.2d 229 (1977) 10
Statutes
RCW 51.52.050
Other Authority
ER 201
ER 801(d)(2)

RAP 9.11(a)	
WAC 296-20-01002	
WAC 296-20-09701	

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Richard Boyd, a City of Olympia ("SIE") firefighter injured at work, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals Division II narrowly construed the Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA") – and resolved doubts in favor of the SIE, rather than the injured worker, resulting in premature closing of his hip and back injury claim.

Firefighter Boyd's treating physician, Dr. Rao, submitted a protest medical record to the third party administrator who was handling Mr. Boyd's claim. This constituted a protest of a Department order of February 18, 2014 that stated that his condition was "stable." This protest record was reasonably calculated to put the SIE on notice that Mr. Boyd was not "stable", and that action was requested that was inconsistent with the Department's order. The Claims Administrator Fleischman's "belief" that is was for an unrelated condition was incorrect, and irrelevant.

Review should be accepted because: (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court interpreting the Industrial Insurance Act in favor of the occupationally injured or diseased worker.

1

See, *Spivey v. City of Bellevue*, 389 P.3d 504 (2017); (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I interpreting the "IIA" in favor of the occupationally injured or diseased worker. See, *Larson v. City of Bellevue*, 188 Wn.App. 857, 355 P.3d 331 (2015); (3) there is a significant due process question regarding liberal application of the IIA in favor of injured workers under the Constitution of the State of Washington; and, (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest for Washington workers that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-19.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Is the injured worker entitled to the benefits of 1) the Industrial Insurance Act, 2) case law from this court and Division I, and, 3) due process at the time of a protest on claim closure for back and hip injuries when a medical record and billing indicating the accepted conditions were not fixed and stable were timely received by the self insured employer? YES.

Issue 2: Is the injured worker entitled to attorney fees and costs in the Superior Court, the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court? YES.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Boyd timely filed an application for benefits for his October 22, 2009

industrial injury. The claim was allowed. CABR 81.

Mr. Boyd saw Dr. Green on September 24, 2013 and was referred for

left hip treatment, including ultrasound guided injection. CABR 85. Despite being provided with various treatment records relating to Mr. Boyd's left hip, the Board and the Court of Appeals excluded those records, even though the records were considered by the SIE in making its decision. The employer's conduct establishes it knew the care was for workplace back and hip injuries.

Richard Boyd's claim was closed on October 10, 2013. CABR 82. Through the SIE's counsel, the SIE submitted to the Claims Adjudicator Trisha Green, a September 24, 2013 chart note by one of Boyd's treating doctors, **Dr. Green**. CABR 84-85 A January 2, 2014 cover letter by SIE counsel that accompanied the Dr. Green chart note stated "**I understand this chart note will likely be construed as a protest to the closing order**. Please contact me if you have any questions." [bold emphasis added]. CABR 82 & 84.

In a subsequent letter from the SIE counsel to Claims Adjudicator Trisha Green and dated January 10, 2014, SIE counsel stated, "Claimant's hip surgeon, **Dr. Green, recently authored a chart note** which recommended another IME to address discrepancies in medical opinions for this claim. **That chart note served as a protest** to the October 10, 2012 closing order." [bold emphasis added]. CABR 87.

On January 13, 2014 the SIE entered a Protest and Request for

3

Reconsideration to the closing order. CABR 82 & 87. On January 27, 2014, the Department ordered that the October 10, 2013 order be reversed, that Mr Boyd's claim is closed stating that his "covered medical condition/s is stable." Mr. Boyd was directed to pay the SIE for an overpayment of permanent partial disability. Mr. Boyd's claim was closed on January 27, 2014. The Department order of January 27, 2014 was affirmed on February 18, 2014. CABR 82.

On February 24, 2014, Third Party Administrator Carrie Fleischman received a chart note from Dr. Rao. CABR 353. This is within sixty days of the February 18, 2014 Department closure order. The Dr. Rao protest record provided a history of present injury, which clearly evidences that Mr. Boyd's condition related to his left hip and that his left hip was not "stable". CABR 589 & 111.

This protest record specifically identifies Mr. Boyd's chief complaint: "CC: <u>Ongoing</u> L hip, referral by Dr. Green". [bold emphasis added]. CABR 588 & 110. After the date of the visit, it states: "Occupational Health." [bold emphasis added]. CABR 588 & 110.

The SIE admitted on March 28, 2014, that claims manager Fleischman received his chart note *and bill* after the February 18, 2014 closing order was issued. CABR 602. The February 18, 2014 Department order should have

automatically been held in abeyance by virtue of Dr. Rao's protest record and billing.

On October 20, 2014, Richard Boyd filed an appeal to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. CABR 209-221.

The Board found that it had jurisdiction, that Boyd did not file a written request for reconsideration of the Department's February 18, 2014 order with the Department within the time limitation allowed by RCW 51.52.050, Dr. Rao's chart note did not put the SIE or the Department on reasonable notice that closure of Boyd's claim was being challenged and that Mr. Boyd did not file an appeal of the Department's February 18, 2014 order within 60 days of the date when it was communicated to him and that the pleadings and evidence submitted by the parties demonstrate that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact and granted the SIE's summary judgment motion. CABR 6 & 7.

Appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal to the Thurston County Superior Court. CP 3-5. Thurston County Superior Court Judge Mary Sue Wilson issued an Order Affirming Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals on March 11, 2016, after oral argument by the parties. CP 47-49. Appellant Richard Boyd appealed to the Court of Appeals. CP 50–52. The Court of Appeals issued a published opinion on October 24, 2017. Appendix A.

Objective Facts Available to Claim Manager

The Court of Appeals in its opinion stated "although a court should not delve into the **mental** processes of the Department adjudicator, it can look at what **objective facts** were available to the Department in considering the order." [bold emphasis added]. The Department, and the SIE knew that appellant had an **accepted** hip condition, which included hip surgery, and knew that there were ongoing hip issues, and ongoing care and treatment.

Exhibit F to appellant's Petition for Review of the Board's Proposed Decision and Order, is the Jurisdictional history which references the hip issue. CABR 81-82.

Exhibit G is the chart note, which references the previous hip surgery in 2011 and a letter from the employer. CABR 84-85.

Exhibit H is a letter from attorney Wallace wherein Dr. Green is referenced as claimant's hip surgeon. CABR 87-91.

Exhibit N is the 2-13-14 Rao chart note wherein he documents a 2012 arthroscopic labral debridement and a previous diagnostic hip injection, and that he had a left arthroscopic hip loose body removal, labral debridement, partial synovectomy and an osteoplasty of the femoral head neck junction on 7/1/11 and states it is an **ongoing** referral from Dr. Green, CABR 104-105.

Included within the Notice of Appeal to the Board is a section of the 9-21-11 IME by Zoltani and Kretschmer which references the 7-1-11 surgery and states the hip is an **administratively accepted condition**. CABR 215. ER 801(d)(2).

Judicial Notice of Claim File Documents

ER 201 permits a court to take judicial notice of certain facts at any stage of the proceeding. In Washington the application of ER 201 on appeal is limited by RAP 9.11(a). *King County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 549 n.6 14 P.3d 133 (2000).

In order to establish what the SIE's third party administrator knew in relation to the claim, Appellant requests this Court take judicial notice of the following documents included as Appendix B: Exhibits A-D, I, O and P.

Exhibit A to the Declaration of Ron Meyers is a true and correct copy of page 3 of Richard Wohns MD, May 14, 2010 chart notes. CABR 71.

Exhibit B attached to the Declaration is a true and correct copy of page 1 of the July 1, 2011 Operative report from Dr. Green. CABR 73.

Exhibit C attached to the Declaration of Ron Meyers submitted with the Petition for Review to the Board is a true and correct copy of page 1 Dr. Green's October 25, 2011 chart note. CABR 75.

Exhibit D attached to the Declaration is a true and correct copy of page 1 of the January 26, 2012 chart note of Dr. Green. CABR 77.

Exhibit I attached to the Declaration is a true and correct copy of the June 7, 2013 IME of Justin Sherfey, M.D. CABR 93-98.

Exhibit O attached to the Declaration is a true and correct copy of the November 15, 2013 Claim Review File Note of Carrie Fleischman. CABR 116.

Exhibit P attached to the Declaration is a true and correct copy of the January 8, 2010 Activity Prescription Form (APF), completed by Richard Wohns, M.D. CABR 118.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The issue is whether the Department's February 18, 2014 closing order was met with a timely protest. The February 13, 2014 Dr. Rao protest record indicated: (a) That the 2/13/14 office visit was **Occupational** Health; (b) that the chief complaint was "**Ongoing L hip**, referral by Dr. Green"; (c) that Boyd was presenting for **follow up of left hip pain**; (d) that Boyd had arthroscopic labraldebridement, in early 2012, and **last met Dr. Rao for a diagnostic hip injection**; and that he did get several months of benefit from the surgery but that the **pain has since returned**; (e) that at this February 13, 2014 visit, Boyd received a hip injection; (f) that directed Boyd to continue home exercise physical therapy and to follow up in four to six weeks to consider psoas vsintra-articular injection if he is not improving. CABR 588-592; 110-114. Moreover, after the Department issued its order affirming closure of Mr. Boyd's claim, Dr. Rao sent this protest record **to the third party Claims Administrator** who was handling Boyd's claim. CABR 6. This record was reasonably calculated to put the SIE on notice that Mr. Boyd was not "stable", and that action was requested that was inconsistent with the Department's closing order.

The Board found that Dr. Rao's February 13, 2014 protest record did not contain protest language – none is required – and did not put the SIE or the Department "on reasonable notice that closure of Mr. Boyd's claim was being challenged." CABR 6. The Superior Court and the Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed the Board's Decision and Order.

A. This Division II decision conflicts with rulings of the Supreme Court and Division I of the Court of Appeals.

The Board and Courts below decided this case in conflict with a recent decision of the Supreme Court and a recent decision of Division I interpreting the IIA liberally and in favor of the occupationally injured or diseased worker. These reaffirmations are the equivalent of property rights for injured workers under the IIA.

1. Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court in *Spivey v. City of Bellevue*, 389 P.3d 504 (2017), recently reaffirmed the remedial nature and liberal construction of the Industrial Insurance Act.

See also, *Harbor Plywood Corp. v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wash.2d 553, 295 P.2d 310 (1956) (evidence established that an industrial injury aggravated a preexisting nonwork-related cancer, causing acceleration of the employee's death due to cancer). The worker is to be taken as he or she is, with all his or her preexisting frailties and bodily infirmities. *Wendt v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 18 Wash.App. 674, 682–83, 571 P.2d 229 (1977).

The Board, Superior Court and Court of Appeals **narrowly construed** the IIA – and chose to resolve doubts in favor of the SIE – rather than the injured worker.

2. Court of Appeals, Division I decision conflict.

The Board and Courts failed to consider the note and billing for continuing care as a protest, thereby denying Mr. Boyd, the benefit of the liberal interpretation of the IIA. The law requires the note and bill be taken as a protest thereby holding further action to close the claim in abeyance. The facts **at the time of the protest** determine the protest – not Monday morning quarterbacking. Sending chart notes for further care and billing is the operative basis for the protest. Looking at the relevant facts, at the time of the protest, Mr. Boyd was not fixed and stable, he needed further treatment and he was to return to determine whether the nature of the treatment would include physical therapy or even more invasive injections.

B. Dr. Rao's chart note and billing is inconsistent with the determination that Mr. Boyd was fixed and stable. Therefore, it is a protest under the IIA as mandated by the Supreme Court.

Applying the law as it was interpreted by this Court and Division I, to the relevant facts at the time the SIE received the February 13, 2014 Dr. Rao medical record and billing, there was a protest.

In the present case, the Department order at issue is dated February 18, 2014. Third Party Administrator Carrie Fleischman received the Dr. Rao **protest record and bill** on February 24, 2014. CABR 353. The SIE has admitted that on March 28, 2014, claims manager Fleischman wrote a letter to Dr. Rao stating they received his bill and chart note after the February 18, 2014 closing order was issued. CABR 602. There was timely receipt of Dr. Rao's February 13, 2014 protest record and his bill. Action to close the claim should have been held in abeyance while care and treatment continued.

The Board's Proposed Decision and Order and the Superior Court's order affirming the Board's decision, did **not** find that Dr. Rao lacked authority to

protest the Department order.

Dr. Rao, a treating physisican, has the lawful authority to bring a request for reconsideration of a Department's closure order. An "attending doctor" for purposes of WAC 296-20-09701 means: "a person licensed to independently practice one or more of the following professions: Medicine and surgery; osteopathic medicine and surgery; chiropractic; naturopathic physician; podiatry; dentistry; optometry." *See WAC 296-20-01002 Definitions*. Moreover, this definition also states that: "An attending doctor is a treating doctor." *Id.* Dr. Rao, a medical doctor providing treatment to Mr. Boyd is an attending doctor.

The Board found, incorrectly, that Dr. Rao's chart note did not put the SIE or the Department "on reasonable notice that closure of Mr. Boyd's claim was being challenged." and that it "did not contain any protest language". CABR 6. The Board, the Superior Court and Division II, made law, rather than following it.

In the present case, the February 18, 2014 Department order affirmed the January 27, 2014 order. The January 27, 2014 order indicated claim-closure on the basis that the covered medical condition(s) is **stable**. CABR 82. Review of Dr. Rao's protest record sent to the Third Party Administrator was reasonably calculated to put the SIE on notice that action was requested that was inconsistent

with the Department order that deemed Boyd "stable."

In its significant decision of *In Re: Mike Lambert*, the Board stated that, "It is sufficient if the Department **receives a written document**, **filed within the time allowed by law, which is reasonably calculated to put the Department on notice that the party submitting the document is requesting action inconsistent with the decision of the Department**. Upon **receipt** of the October 4, 1990 letter, June Gorsky knew, or should have known, that the claimant was disputing the Department's right to share in his third party recovery and was thereby aggrieved by the order of September 7, 1990." [bold emphasis added]. *In Re: Mike Lambert, BILA number 91 0107 (1991).*

The document for consideration is the February 13, 2014 protest record of Dr. Rao.

When the Dr. Rao protest record was presented to the Third Party Claims Administrator after the February 18, 2014 claim-closure order, it either was, or should have been, evident that Dr. Rao was requesting — and had performed – action that was inconsistent with the Department's order. Claimant was not stable. In fact, he received an injection and the record indicates the need for further home physical therapy, and it indicates there is to be a follow up visit to consider another injection if his condition did not improve. At a minimum, this protest record **was** **reasonably calculated** to put the SIE on notice that Dr. Rao was requesting action inconsistent with the decision of the Department.

The Board ruled that the Dr. Rao protest record did not "make any reference to an industrial injury." CABR 6. However, in its significant decision of *In Re: Mike Lambert*, the Board stated that "The use of "magical" statutory words is **not required**." [bold emphasis added]. *In Re: Mike Lambert, BIIA Number 91 0107 (1991)*. What is required -- and mandated by our State Supreme Court – is that the Industrial Insurance Act be **liberally construed** in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, **with doubts resolved in favor of the worker**. *See Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc., supra; and Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,* 109 Wash.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987).

Dr. Rao's protest record of February 13, 2014 specifically identifies Mr. Boyd's chief complaint: "CC: **Ongoing** L hip, referral by Dr. Green".[bold emphasis added]. CABR 588 & 110. After where the record indicates the date of the visit, it states: "**Occupational** Health." [bold emphasis added]. CABR 588 & 110. It bears noting that the Insurer Activity Prescription Form dated January 12, 2010 (using acronyms OTJI for "on the job injury" and LBP for "low back pain") states in part¹:

"**OTJI caused** recurrent LBP and **left hip region pain**." [bold emphasis added]. CABR 118.

Mr. Boyd's May 14, 2010 record from South Sound Neurosurgery states

in part²:

1

2

3

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