RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 11, 2017, 1:25 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 95252-3

Court of Appeals Division II No. 48927-9-11

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD BOYD, Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF OLYMPIA & WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES, Respondents.

# ANSWER OF CITY OF OLYMPIA TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WALLACE, KLOR, MANN, CAPENER & BISHOP, P.C. WILLIAM A. MASTERS
Attorneys for City of Olympia

By William A. Masters, WSBA No. 13958 Attorney at Law 5800 Meadows Road, Suite 220 Lake Oswego, OR 97035 (503) 224-8949 bmasters@wkmcblaw.com

> FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL







# **

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

# II. ARGUMENT IN ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

# A. Boyd Not Inconsistent with Supreme Court Precedent

# Synopsis

#### Part A

1. Petitioner argues erroneously that his interpretation of RCW 51.52.050 is more liberal than the Court of Appeal's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. Green's Declaration is CABR 526-527. It would not be considered under the *Boyd* criteria as to what constitutes a protest.

interpretation of that statute. 2. Under Petitioner's interpretation, only Dr. Roa's chart note is admissible evidence on the issue about whether or not it is a protest.

3. Respondent answers that the Court of Appeals' interpretation is more liberal than Petitioner's interpretation.4. Respondent further answers that by the terms of Dr. Roa's chart note creates no issue of fact that it is a protest.

#### Part B

- 5. Petitioner then argues erroneously that if the Court adheres to the Court of Appeal's interpretation, which allows extrinsic evidence in addition to Dr. Roa's chart note, then that extrinsic evidence creates an issue of fact about whether Dr. Roa's chart note is a protest. 6. Petitioner then argues erroneously that if under the Court of Appeal's interpretation, that extrinsic evidence does not create an issue of fact about whether or not Dr. Roa's chart note is a protest, then the Court should admit proffered extrinsic evidence excluded in the lower tribunals. Petitioner argues erroneously that if that added extrinsic proffered evidence is admitted, it creates an issue of fact about whether or not Dr. Roa's chart note is a protest.
- 7. Respondent answers that the Court should not admit a proffer of evidence excluded in the tribunals below. 8. Respondent further answers that if the Department considers Petitioner's proffer of additional extrinsic evidence in addition to Dr. Roa's chart note and the existing evidence, then that proffered evidence does not create an issue of material fact that Dr. Roa's chart note is a protest.

#### Part A

1. Petitioner's Argument. Following RAP 13.4(b), Petitioner first argues that the Court of Appeals' decision in Boyd v. City of Olympia, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 (October 24, 2017) conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in Spivey v. City of Bellevue, 187 Wn.2d 716,

726, 389 P.3d 504 (2017). Superficially, Petitioner's argument is that the Court of Appeals, in reaching its decision in *Boyd*, did not liberally construe RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) in accordance with RCW 51.12.010. That is, Petitioner argues that his proposed legal criteria about what constitutes a protest is a more liberal interpretation of RCW 51.52050 than the Court of Appeal's interpretation of that statute. See also RCW 51.52.050(1).

But upon analysis, Petitioner's argument is more about shifting the burden of proof to the Respondents. Petitioner's argument is without merit.

Lambert Test. Before the Court of Appeals' decision in Boyd, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals had provided legal criteria for what constitutes a protest in In re Mike Lambert, BIIA Dec. 91 0107 (1991). Those criteria are as follows:

- (1) it is written;
- (2) it is received by the Department (or its agents) within the statutory appeal period; and
- (3) it is "reasonably calculated" to notify the Department that the party submitting the document is requesting action inconsistent with the decision of the Department. [Hereinaster referred to as "Lambert criterion (3)".]

In re Mike Lambert, BIIA Dec. 91 0107 (1991) at page 1, lines 41-45.

Petitioner generally endorsed these legal criteria in the Court of Appeals. Appellant's Opening Brief in Court of Appeals at pages 16-17;

Boyd, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at pages 12-13. In the Court of Appeals, the dispute between Petitioner and Respondents arose over the interpretation of Lambert criterion (3).

2. As to Lambert criterion (3), Petitioner interpreted it as requiring that the Department or its agent only consider as evidence (3.1) the order at issue and (3.2) the document asserted to be the protest. Petitioner argued that a liberal interpretation of RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) would require that the Department or its agent consider no evidence extrinsic to that purported protest document. On this interpretation, the Department or its agent would need to interpret the purported protest document behind a veil of ignorance, ignoring any objective relevant extrinsic evidence of which it knew that would help it better understand the purported protest document in light of the Department order at issue.

Boyd Test. In Boyd, the Court of Appeals generally adopted the Lambert standard subject to certain modifications to Lambert criterion (3). Boyd, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at page 14. The Court of Appeals' interpretation can be charitably paraphrased as follows:

(3) the document reasonably notifies the Department, given the objective facts then known to the Department or its agent [or that become known to the Department or its agent before expiration of the statutory appeal

period]<sup>2</sup>, that statements in the purported protest document can be interpreted in context as conflicting with the Department's decision/order. [Hereinafter referred to as "Boyd criterion (3)".]

As to *Boyd* criterion (3), the Court of Appeals interpreted it as requiring that the Department or its agent consider as evidence (3.1) the order at issue, (3.2) the document asserted to be the protest and (3.3) any objective extrinsic evidence then known to the Department or its agent [or that becomes known to the Department or its agent before expiration of the statutory appeal period] relevant to the issue addressed in the purported protest document. *Boyd*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at page 16.

The Court of Appeals rejected an interpretation of Lambert criterion (3) that would allow the Department or its agent to consider either extrinsic evidence developed after the expiration of the statutory appeal period or extrinsic evidence of the intent of the author of the purported protest document as to whether he or she considered that document a protest. Boyd, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at pages 15-16. (If the author of the purported protest document said in that document that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals did not decide whether extrinsic evidence obtained by the Department or its agent after receipt of the purported protest document but within the statutory appeal period should be considered. *Boyd*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at page 16, n. 5. But it is reasonable to believe that the Department or its agent should consider such information.

it was or was not a protest, that statement would be *intrinsic* evidence relevant as to whether or not the document was a protest.)

Under this *Boyd* test, the Department or its agent could not consider a supplemental document from the author of the purported protest document provided within the statutory appeal period to the extent that the author either affirmed or disaffirmed that the initial document is a protest. Presumably, if the second document is a protest in its own right and expresses the author's intent that it is a protest, then the initial purported protest document would become inconsequential. If the second or supplemental document is not a protest in its own right and if in this second document the author disavows that the first document is a protest, then under the *Boyd* criteria that expression of intent would be irrelevant in interpreting the first document. *Id*.

A Legal Rule. It is unclear why Petitioner would object as a rule to Boyd criterion (3) allowing the Department to consider said extrinsic evidence. This is so because Petitioner's suggested interpretation of Lambert criterion (3) seems necessarily neither more narrow nor more liberal than Boyd criterion (3). As a rule, excluding consideration of such extrinsic evidence could just as likely prejudice the worker as assist the worker in seeking to establish a protest.

Consider, for example, the following scenario:

- (1) The Department allows a claim for a mid-back or thoracic sprain.
- (2) The Department receives Dr. X's chart note in which he states that in his opinion claimant's left hip pain is from a pinched nerve root at L5 vertebra (the lumbar region of the back) and that that condition was caused by the industrial event. He further opines that both that condition and the thoracic sprain are now at "maximum medical improvement." See WAC 296-20-01002(3).
  - (3) The Department then issues an order closing the claim.
- (4) Within 60 days of that order, Dr. Y provides the Department with a chart note merely indicating that he just treated the L5 nerve root with an epidural steroid injection.

If the Department could consider item (2), then receipt of item (4) would put it on notice that Dr. Y's treatment is inconsistent with item (3). If the Department could not consider item (2) (as it could not under Petitioner's interpretation), then receipt of item (4) would not put it on notice that Dr. Y's treatment is inconsistent with item (3), and the worker would be disadvantaged.

3. Indeed, as a legal rule, *Boyd* criterion (3) is likely more helpful to workers than Petitioner's interpretation of *Lambert* criterion (3). Simply, *Boyd* criterion (3) enlarges the universe of evidence available to

interpret the purported protest document, thereby turning a class of documents into protests which might not be otherwise considered protests if considered in isolation.

It is trivial to say that whether *any* interpretation of RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) as to criterion (3) results in a document being adjudged a protest or not depends on the facts of each case. Obviously, any such legal interpretation does not become legally narrow under one factual situation and legally liberal under another. The legal test is a *rule* established before the facts arise.

Even so, it is granted that various legal tests can impose various burdens of proof on the worker. As a rule, however, the burden of proof is greater under Petitioner's interpretation of *Lambert* criterion (3) than under *Boyd* criterion (3) because Petitioner's interpretation narrows the possible relevant evidence of a protest.

Ad Hoc Rule. Apparently, Petitioner advocates for his interpretation of Lambert criterion (3) because he realizes that the objective extrinsic evidence undermines his contention that Dr. Roa's chart note creates an issue of fact that it is a protest. That is, in essence, he is advocating that the legal test for a protest be fashioned on a case-by-case basis to fit the facts most favorable to the worker. See Petitioner's

Petition for Review at page 14. That is a legal rule only in a trivial sense. In substance, his approach would be strictly ad hoc.

Shifting Burden of Proof. Upon analysis, Petitioner is not arguing for a liberal interpretation of the law (viz., RCW 51.52.050(2)(a)). Instead, he is arguing for a liberal interpretation of the facts. By a liberal interpretation of the facts, he apparently means that when the evidence is ambiguous, the worker should be given the benefit of the doubt—that is, the evidence should be interpreted in a way that results in the purported protest document being a protest. What is apparent is that Petitioner is essentially arguing that the burden of proof (or burden of disproof) should be shifted to the Department or its agent.

Yet the burden of proof is on Petitioner; he must provide evidence to satisfy the legal criteria. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a); Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 34 Wn.2d 498, 504, 208 P.2d 1181 (1949), overruled on other grounds in Windust v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 52 Wn.2d 33, 323 P.2d 241 (1958); Jenkins v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 85 Wn. App. 7, 14, 931 P.2d 907 (1996).

4. By itself, Dr. Roa's chart note is not a protest. To be a protest here<sup>3</sup>, it must recommend action inconsistent with the Department's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Obviously, a protest may cover any number of topics subject to a Department order. In this case, it concerns a closing order.

closing order. More specifically here, it must identify a new medical condition related to the industrial event or it must identify current treatment of a medical condition, new or old, related to the industrial event or it must recommend further medical treatment of a condition, new or old, related to the industrial event.

On its face, it does not do so. The Court of Appeal's analysis in Boyd was correct. *Boyd*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at pages 17-19. The essential feature of Dr. Roa's chart note that causes it not to be a protest is that the condition Dr. Roa diagnosed—*viz.*, trochanteric bursitis—is not identified as being causally related to the industrial injury<sup>4</sup>. Nothing in that chart note contradicts the content of Dr. Green's September 24, 2013 chart note wherein he mentions (1) that Petitioner had new symptoms in the area of his left psoas and left greater trochanteric bursae, (2) that he was referring him to Dr. Roa for ultrasound-guided steroid injections of both the left psoas and the greater trochanteric bursa and (3) that "these are some new symptoms of his hips that are unlikely to be related [to] his previously [*sic*] work-related problem". CABR 582-586.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The record does not contain the Department's allowance order indicating what injury the Department attributed to the industrial event. That order would not be automatically included in the record under WAC 263-12-135. To be in evidence, it would need to be introduced into evidence at the Board. None of the parties apparently did that.

#### Part B

5. Evidence Does Not Create An Issue of Fact. So upon analysis of Petitioner's argument, Petitioner does not really seem to dispute on principle Boyd criterion (3). Rather, given Boyd criterion (3), he disputes the legal conclusion that no genuine issue of material fact exists that Dr. Roa's chart note is not a protest--that is, that the allowed industrial injury was not at "maximum medical improvement" when the claim closed.

Petitioner's argument is without merit. More specifically, the extrinsic evidence clarifies that what Dr. Roa was treating—viz., trochanteric bursitis—was not causally related to the industrial event. Specifically, on September 24, 2013, Dr. Green noted that Petitioner had "new symptoms" in the area of his left psoas and left greater trochanteric bursa, and that he was referring him to Dr. Roa for ultrasound-guided steroid injections of both the left psoas and greater trochanteric bursa. CABR 582-586. Dr. Green noted that "these are some new symptoms of his hips that are unlikely to be related [to] his previously [sic] work-related problem." Id. This chart note was provided to the Department or its agent before the Department issued its January 27, 2014 closing order. CABR 352-354. On January 15, 2014, in a concurrence letter which Dr. Green sent to the Department, he again opined that the new hip symptoms, which Dr. Roa was to later treat, were unrelated to the industrial event. CABR

330; 369-371. This concurrence letter was provided to the Department or its agent before the Department issued its January 27, 2014 closing order.

On February 13, 2014, Dr. Roa, after providing Petitioner with ultrasound-guided steroid injections into the anterolateral hip in the specific areas of the trochanter bursa and the psoas bursa, diagnosed Petitioner with trochanteric bursitis, finding no medical evidence of psoas bursitis. CABR 590-591. Importantly, Dr. Roa did not note or in any way opine that Petitioner's trochanteric bursitis was related to the industrial event.

- 6. Attempts to Enlarge the Evidence. Petitioner's Petition is inconsistent with his interpretation of Lambert criterion (3)—viz., limiting the evidence to Dr. Roa's chart note. That is, in his Petition, he seeks to enlarge the evidence of his medical status as it existed before Dr. Roa's February 13, 2014 chart note and as known to the Department or its agent. He even seeks to include in evidence a variety of excluded documents. Presumably, he is adopting this tactic as a default position should the Court affirm Boyd criterion (3). His attempt to enlarge the evidentiary record is also a concession that the existing evidence fails to establish an issue of material fact that Dr. Roa's chart note is a protest.
- 7. That excluded proffer of hearsay evidence should not be admitted for the reasons the Court of Appeals provided. *Boyd*, 2017

Wash. App. LEXIS 2431 at pages 16-17. Nor does it satisfy the requirements of RAP 9.11, for admitting new evidence are not satisfied here. Petitioner advances no argument as to satisfaction of the six necessary requirements of this RAP.

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